

NovaGold Resources Inc.

Second Quarter 2011
Consolidated Financial Statements with
Management's Discussion & Analysis

May 31, 2011

(Unaudited)

Table of Contents

| Management's Discussion and Analysis | 3 |
|--|----|
| General | 3 |
| Description of business | 3 |
| Approach to business | 3 |
| Recent developments | 3 |
| Property review | 4 |
| Outlook | 6 |
| Results of operations | 7 |
| Selected financial data | 8 |
| Liquidity and capital resources | 8 |
| Related party transactions | 9 |
| Financial instruments | 9 |
| New accounting pronouncements | 10 |
| Critical accounting estimates | 12 |
| Risk factors | 13 |
| Cautionary notes | 15 |
| Consolidated Balance Sheets – Unaudited | 17 |
| Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit – Unaudited | 18 |
| Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss – Unaudited | 19 |
| Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity – Unaudited | 19 |
| Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows – Unaudited | 20 |
| Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | 21 |
| Annendix – Reserve & Resource Table | 29 |

General

This Management's Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") of NovaGold Resources Inc. ("NovaGold" or "the Company") is dated July 13, 2011 and provides an analysis of NovaGold's unaudited financial results for the quarter ended May 31, 2011 compared to the same period in the previous year.

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Company's May 31, 2011 unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes and with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended November 30, 2010, which were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada ("Canadian GAAP"). The accounting policies as outlined in the annual consolidated financial statements have been consistently followed in preparation of the interim consolidated financial statements. All amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.

The Company's shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the NYSE Amex LLC under the symbol "NG". Additional information related to NovaGold is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

Description of business

NovaGold is a precious metals company engaged in the exploration and development of mineral properties in Alaska, U.S.A. and British Columbia, Canada. The Company conducts its operations through wholly-owned subsidiaries, partnerships, limited liability companies and joint ventures. The Company has assembled a portfolio of projects, with 50% interests in two of the world's largest undeveloped gold and copper-gold projects — Donlin Gold and Galore Creek — 100% of the Ambler high-grade copper-zinc-gold-silver deposit and other exploration-stage properties. The Company is primarily focused on gold properties, some of which also have significant copper, silver and zinc resources. NovaGold has reduced some of the development risk at its two main projects by leveraging the development and operating expertise of its senior partners, Barrick Gold Corporation ("Barrick") at Donlin Gold and Teck Resources Limited ("Teck") at Galore Creek. In addition, NovaGold's core properties are located in Alaska and British Columbia, regions with low geopolitical risk that have a long history of mining, established permitting standards and governments supportive of resource development.

Approach to business

NovaGold is focused on advancing its two main properties, Donlin Gold and Galore Creek, with the objective of becoming a low-cost million-ounce-a-year gold producer and a significant copper producer. The Company is also advancing its Ambler property and continues to explore at its earlier-stage properties with the objective of bringing additional value to NovaGold shareholders and building a pipeline of quality projects. NovaGold's business model focuses on five main steps: identifying high-quality assets and making strategic, timely acquisitions; engaging with local communities; using exploration expertise to expand existing deposits; advancing the projects to a feasibility level to bring reserves to the Company and value to shareholders; and creating strong partnerships with well-respected senior producers to advance the projects to production. NovaGold will continue to leverage its exploration and development expertise to bring additional resources and value to shareholders. The Company also recognizes the value of strong partnerships and a strong team, and looks for opportunities to acquire or partner in new projects that can bring talented people to the Company and value to NovaGold shareholders.

Responsible mine development and community collaboration continues to be a trademark of NovaGold's business strategy at all of its projects. NovaGold published its first sustainability report in 2010 and published its first integrated report in May 2011 with the objective of providing an overview of the Company's commitment and approach to sustainability, its challenges and successes at the projects and its goals for future years. The report demonstrates the Company's commitment to accountability and transparent disclosure and will allow NovaGold to more effectively monitor progress as it strives for continuous improvement and best practices in responsible mine development. NovaGold believes that long-lasting social and economic benefits can flow to the communities in which it operates. Through continuous collaboration with Alaskan Native and BC First Nation groups from the outset at each project, NovaGold considers the long-term impacts and benefits of operations for stakeholders when developing its projects and reduces development risk for its shareholders.

Recent developments

On June 23, 2011, NovaGold announced the approval by the Galore Creek Partnership of a \$30.5 million budget to carry out further work at the Galore Creek project during the remainder of 2011. Planned work includes infill drilling to convert inferred mineral resources to measured and indicated categories, geotechnical drilling on the tunnel alignment and geotechnical drilling to confirm open pit slopes in areas targeted for conversion of inferred mineral resources. In June 2011, Teck completed its funding requirements of \$373.3 million to earn its 50% interest in the Galore Creek project. NovaGold and Teck will equally

fund further Galore Creek development activities. Galore Creek Mining Corporation ("GCMC") is completing a pre-feasibility study for the project, scheduled for completion by the end of July 2011, at which point the partners will determine next steps to advance the project. GCMC has initiated further environmental and engineering work at the project over the balance of 2011.

On May 20, 2011, NovaGold completed the acquisition of Copper Canyon Resources Ltd. ("Copper Canyon"), a junior exploration company whose principal asset is its 40% joint venture interest in the Copper Canyon copper-gold-silver property that is adjacent to the Galore Creek project. A wholly-owned subsidiary of NovaGold holds the remaining 60% joint venture interest in the Copper Canyon property. Under the acquisition arrangement, NovaGold acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Copper Canyon which it did not already hold. As a result, Copper Canyon is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of NovaGold. NovaGold issued a total of 4,171,303 common shares under the arrangement, representing approximately 1.7% of the number of NovaGold common shares then outstanding and paid cash of \$2,557,000. Under the arrangement, Copper Canyon transferred to a new company, Omineca Mining and Metals Ltd. ("Omineca"), substantially all of its assets other than certain cash and its 40% interest in the Copper Canyon property. NovaGold holds and exercises control over an aggregate of 1,725,858 common shares of Omineca, representing approximately 10.8% of Omineca's outstanding common shares. The Omineca shares are being held by NovaGold as a portfolio investment.

On April 14, 2011, NovaGold announced the results of a preliminary economic assessment ("PEA") for its 100% owned Ambler project in Alaska. The Ambler property comprises 90,624 acres (36,670 hectares) of State of Alaska mining claims and Federal patented and unpatented mining claims and hosts a number of deposits, including the high-grade copper-zinc-lead-gold-silver Arctic deposit, which was the focus of the PEA. The project's Net Present Value (NPV8%) using the PEA base case metal price assumptions was assessed at US\$718 million and US\$505 million on a pre-tax and post-tax basis, respectively. The corresponding Internal Rates of Return ("IRR") were estimated at 30% and 25%. Using recent metal prices the pre-tax and post-tax NPV8% were estimated at US\$2.2 billion and US\$1.6 billion, respectively, with corresponding IRRs estimated at 59% and 50%.

Based on the PEA, mining of the Ambler deposit is envisioned as an underground operation processing up to 4,000 tonnes of material per day. The current estimated mineral resource base of 16.8 million tonnes of indicated mineral resources and 12.1 million tonnes of inferred mineral resources support a 25-year mine life. The mine is anticipated to produce three concentrates: a copper concentrate with gold byproduct, a lead concentrate with silver and gold byproducts and a zinc concentrate with silver byproduct, with copper cash costs, net of byproducts at long-term metal prices, estimated at \$0.89/lb copper. Average annual payable metal production is forecast at 67 million pounds of copper, 80 million pounds of zinc, 12 million pounds of lead, 11,000 ounces of gold and 866,000 ounces of silver. Life-of-mine ("LOM") payable metal production is estimated at 1.7 billion pounds of copper, 2.0 billion pounds of zinc, 291 million pounds of lead, 266,000 ounces of gold and 22 million ounces of silver. The production schedule is based on processing average-grade material through the life of the operation, with potential upside to be obtained by mining higher-grade ore during the early years of the project.³

Property review

Donlin Gold

Donlin Creek LLC has been renamed Donlin Gold LLC and the project, formally referenced as Donlin Creek will now be referred to as Donlin Gold.

Donlin Gold, one of the world's largest known undeveloped gold deposits is owned and operated by Donlin Gold LLC, a company in which wholly-owned subsidiaries of NovaGold and Barrick each own a 50% interest. The 81,361 acre (32,926 hectare) property is located primarily on private, Alaskan Native-owned land, with surface rights owned by The Kuskokwim Corporation and sub-surface rights owned by Calista Corporation. Donlin Gold's management is committed to working with its Alaskan Native partners to establish collaborative relationships that benefit all stakeholders as the property advances. The Donlin Gold property hosts a number of deposits and the current mineral reserves and resources are contained within just 3 km of the 8 km district, with significant exploration potential remaining in the Donlin Gold district.

A mineral reserve/resource estimate for the project totals 33.6 million ounces of proven and probable gold reserves averaging 2.2 grams per tonne gold, 4.3 million ounces of measured and indicated mineral resources and an additional 4.4 million ounces of inferred mineral resource. With estimated production of more than one million ounces of gold annually for at least 25 years, Donlin Gold would be one of the world's largest gold-producing mines.

 $^{^1\,\}text{Base case metal price assumptions: US$2.50/lb copper, US$1.05/lb zinc, US$1.00/lb lead, US$1,100/oz gold, US$20/oz silver.}$

²Recent metal price assumptions US\$4.31/lb copper, US\$1.20/lb zinc, US\$1.20/lb lead, US\$1,425/oz gold and US\$36/oz silver.

³ See press releases dated April 14, 2011 and May 26, 2011 available at <u>www.novagold.net</u> or <u>www.sedar.com</u> for full details.

Activities at the Donlin Gold project during 2011 have focused on engineering and environmental studies to support the permitting process and community outreach programs, as well as a revision to the feasibility study to incorporate the use of natural gas as the primary power source at the mine site rather than using diesel to generate power, as contemplated in the 2009 feasibility study. The natural gas option would require building a buried pipeline that would run approximately 315 miles from the Cook Inlet to the Donlin Gold site. Using natural gas to generate power could result in a reduction to this component of operating costs. Power accounts for 25% of estimated project operating costs in the 2009 feasibility study. The impact of using natural gas on capital and operating costs along with an update of general cost assumptions will be addressed in the feasibility revision, anticipated to be completed in the second half of 2011.

Donlin Gold spent approximately US\$11.9 million in the second quarter, which was US\$1.4 million under its second quarter budget of US\$13.3 million due to a decrease in G&A costs. Work during the remainder of 2011 will focus on completing the feasibility study revision and preparing to file permit applications for the project.

Due to the accounting rules under Accounting Guideline-15 for Variable Interest Entity accounting, NovaGold continues to record its interest in the Donlin Gold project as an equity investment, which results in all of NovaGold's funding being recorded in the income statement as equity loss, and any unspent funding to Donlin Gold being recorded in the balance sheet on the equity investment line.

Galore Creek

Galore Creek, a large copper-gold-silver project located in northwestern British Columbia, is managed by GCMC and owned by a partnership in which wholly-owned subsidiaries of NovaGold and Teck each own a 50% interest. The 293,840 acre (118,912 hectare) property holds a large undeveloped porphyry-related copper-gold-silver deposit. A mineral resource estimate for the Galore Creek project totals measured and indicated mineral resources of 8.9 billion pounds of copper, 7.3 million ounces of gold and 123 million ounces of silver, with additional inferred mineral resources (including the Copper Canyon deposit of which NovaGold owns 100%) of 3.5 billion pounds of copper, 3.3 million ounces of gold and 61 million ounces of silver.

Activities during the second quarter at the Galore Creek site focused on care and maintenance of existing infrastructure and roads and preparations for the summer drilling season. Activities off-site focused on finalizing the pre-feasibility study. GCMC spent approximately \$6.9 million in the second quarter, which consists of \$4.0 million in care and maintenance costs and \$2.9 million on pre-feasibility study costs. Under the terms of the Galore Creek Partnership Agreement, Teck was funding all costs for the project until completing its earn-in obligations. At May 31, 2011, the Galore Creek Partnership had cash of \$1.8 million and Teck had approximately \$0.8 million remaining in project contributions to earn its 50% interest in the project.

Subsequent to May 31, 2011, Teck completed its earn-in and NovaGold and Teck will be responsible to equally fund future project costs. On June 23, 2011, the partners announced a \$30.5 million budget to carry out further work on the project during the remainder of 2011. Planned work includes infill drilling to convert inferred mineral resources to measured and indicated categories, geotechnical drilling on the tunnel alignment and geotechnical drilling to confirm open pit slopes in areas targeted for conversion of inferred mineral resources. GCMC is hiring staff and mobilizing equipment to prepare for the summer drill program. GCMC will also complete further environmental and engineering work in preparation for feasibility level studies.

Due to accounting rules under Accounting Guideline-15 for Variable Interest Entity accounting, NovaGold continues to consolidate 100% of the activities of GCMC on the income statement, and the Galore Creek asset and a non-controlling interest for Teck's contributions on the balance sheet.

Ambler

Ambler is an advanced exploration-stage property located in Alaska comprising 90,615 acres (36,670 hectares) of Federal patented and unpatented mining claims and State of Alaska mining claims, covering a major portion of the precious-metal-rich Ambler volcanogenic massive sulfide belt. A preliminary economic assessment for the development and operation of an underground mining operation at the Arctic deposit was completed in April 2011. Mineral resources estimated for the Arctic deposit are 16.8 million tonnes of indicated mineral resource grading 4.1% copper and 6.0% zinc and 12.1 million tonnes of inferred mineral resource grading 3.5% copper and 4.9% zinc for contained metal totaling indicated mineral resource of 1.5 billion pounds of copper, 2.2 billion pounds of zinc, 450,000 ounces of gold, 32 million ounces of silver and 350 million pounds of lead, with additional inferred mineral resource of 940 million pounds of copper, 1.3 billion pounds of zinc, 260,000 ounces of gold, 19 million ounces of silver and 212 million pounds of lead. Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

The Company spent approximately US\$3.2 million during the second quarter, focused on completing the preliminary economic assessment and preparations for this summer's field season.

Other properties

In March 2011, NovaGold sold 11,500 acres (4,654 hectares) comprising of its Nome Gold project. NovaGold's wholly-owned subsidiary, Alaska Gold Company, will receive US\$21.0 million in three installments over two years. A total of US\$6.1 million is due during 2011 and US\$14.0 million is due in 2012. The buyer will also provide a letter of credit for US\$4.0 million as an environmental reclamation bond.

The Company continues to explore earlier-stage exploration projects that have not advanced to the mineral resource definition stage and spent \$1.0 million during the second quarter at an early-stage exploration project.

Additional information concerning mineral reserves and resources can be found in Appendix – Reserve and Resource Table.

Outlook

At May 31, 2011, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of \$111.6 million and working capital of \$108.0 million.

The Donlin Gold project has an approved 2011 budget of approximately US\$43.5 million, with US\$17.0 million spent to date, of which the Company's 50% share is approximately US\$20.5 million, with US8.5 million funded to date. The 2011 work program will focus on completing the feasibility revision to incorporate the natural gas pipeline, and preparing permit applications for the project. During 2011, Donlin Gold will continue to consult with stakeholders and solicit feedback from local communities and its Alaskan Native partners as well as State and Federal regulatory agencies. Donlin Gold has budgeted to spend US\$14.6 million in the third quarter, of which the Company's 50% share is approximately US\$7.3 million, on community engagement, environmental studies and feasibility revision activities. The feasibility revision should be complete in the second half of 2011, at which point Donlin Gold is expected, subject to approval by NovaGold and Barrick, to proceed to prepare and file permit applications for the project.

At the Galore Creek project, GCMC spent approximately \$12.3 million in the six month period ended May 31, 2011 on care and maintenance, community engagement and completing the pre-feasibility study, and the partners have approved a supplementary budget of \$30.5 million for additional exploration and engineering work. Teck was the sole funding partner until June 22, 2011, when it completed its \$373.3 million earn-in obligation. NovaGold and Teck will fund the supplementary budget equally with NovaGold's share being \$15.3 million. NovaGold expects to fund \$8.3 million in the third quarter at the Galore Creek project for exploration, geotechnical drilling and additional environmental and engineering work to prepare for feasibility-level activities.

At the Ambler project, NovaGold has budgeted approximately US\$10.0 million for 2011 for exploration and geotechnical drilling at site and for additional studies to determine the environmental and engineering aspects of developing the Arctic deposit, with US\$3.4 million spent to date. The Company continues to work with NANA Corporation to establish an agreement for collaborative development of the Ambler region, including district consolidation and infrastructure development that would benefit both the project and local communities. Management has been working actively with the State of Alaska in discussions regarding the Ambler Mining District Transportation Access. The Company expects to spend US\$4.6 million in the third quarter on exploration activities as well as environmental and engineering studies.

At the Rock Creek project, the Company has budgeted approximately US\$8.5 million for 2011 with a focus on continuing to meet permit requirements and environmental responsibilities, with US\$4.8 million spent to date. While NovaGold is soliciting offers to sell the project, the Company is also preparing an updated closure plan for the project in the event that the Company's Board of Directors chooses to close and reclaim the property and has budgeted a supplemental US\$6.8 million for preparing the updated closure plan. The Company expects to spend US\$3.9 million at its Rock Creek project in the third quarter.

Results of operations

in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per share amounts

| | Three months | Three months | Six months | Six months |
|---|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | ended | ended | ended | ended |
| | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Asset impairment – power transmission rights | | | | |
| Impairment charge | - | - | 52,668 | - |
| Loss attributable to non-controlling interest | - | - | (13,779) | - |
| Future income tax recovery | - | - | (9,722) | - |
| Equity loss | 5,562 | 4,621 | 10,183 | 7,017 |
| Foreign exchange (gain) loss | 162 | (3,299) | (830) | (3,177) |
| General and administrative | 1,553 | 1,283 | 2,374 | 2,140 |
| Gain on disposition of alluvial gold properties | (16,110) | - | (16,110) | - |
| Interest and accretion | 3,560 | 3,768 | 7,292 | 7,428 |
| Mineral properties expense | 4,573 | 617 | 7,141 | 928 |
| Project care and maintenance (Galore Creek) | 4,047 | 1,495 | 6,518 | 2,731 |
| Project care and maintenance (Rock Creek) | 2,300 | 3,988 | 4,875 | 10,628 |
| Salaries, severance and payroll taxes | 2,075 | 2,926 | 4,544 | 4,201 |
| Salaries – stock-based compensation | 1,514 | 1,050 | 5,052 | 3,141 |
| Loss for the period | (10,561) | (16,813) | (77,917) | (36,225) |
| Basic and diluted loss per share attributable | | | | |
| to the shareholders of the Company | (0.03) | (0.07) | (0.25) | (0.17) |

For the three-month period ended May 31, 2011, the Company reported a net loss of \$10.6 million (or \$0.03 basic and diluted loss per share) compared to a net loss of \$16.8 million (or \$0.07 basic and diluted loss per share) for the corresponding period in 2010. This variance was mainly due to the gain on disposition of alluvial gold properties of \$16.1 million, with no comparable charge during the same period in 2010.

For the six-month period ended May 31, 2011, the Company reported a net loss of \$77.9 million (or \$0.25 basic and diluted loss per share) compared to a net loss of \$36.2 million (or \$0.17 basic and diluted loss per share) for the corresponding period in 2010. This variance was mainly due to the non-cash asset impairment of the power transmission rights which resulted in an impairment charge of \$52.7 million, of which \$13.8 million was attributable to non-controlling interest and \$9.7 million to future income tax recovery partially offset by the gain on disposition of alluvial gold properties of \$16.1 million.

Expenses for the three-month period ended May 31, 2011 were \$27.1 million compared to \$17.2 million for the same period in 2010. This increase was primarily due to an increased exploration expense of \$4.6 million compared to \$0.6 million for the same period in 2010 as the result of an increased level of activity for the Galore Creek pre-feasibility study and exploration work at the Ambler project. The Company also recorded \$4.0 million Galore Creek project care and maintenance expense in 2011 compared with \$1.5 million in 2010, mainly due to the increased level of activity in 2011 compared to second quarter 2010 as the project progresses by strengthening the existing access areas and upgrading its environmental program.

Expenses for the six-month period ended May 31, 2011 were \$49.3 million compared to \$36.8 million for the same period in 2010. This was primarily due to the increased level of activity for the gas pipeline studies at Donlin Gold during the first half of 2011 which resulted in the increase of equity loss to \$10.2 million compared with \$7.0 million in 2010. The Company also recorded expense of \$5.1 million compared with \$3.1 million for stock-based compensation during the same periods in 2011 and 2010, respectively; the increase is due to higher valuations for the stock option and performance share units ("PSU") issued as a result of the higher stock price. During the first six months of 2011, the Company granted 1,234,700 stock options and 244,000 PSUs to employees, consultants and directors. These increases were offset by the reduction of care and maintenance expenditures at Rock Creek, as the Company recorded \$4.8 million in the first six months in 2011 compared with \$10.6 million in 2010. This was due to the decreased level of activity in 2011 compared to 2010, when the Company was improving the tailings pond infrastructure and water treatment processes at Rock Creek.

Selected financial data

Quarterly information

The following unaudited quarterly information is prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

in thousands of Canadian dollars,

| | | | | | | | except per siit | ire uniounts |
|-------------------------------------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|-----------------|--------------|
| | 05/31/11 | 02/28/11 | 11/30/10 | 8/31/10 | 5/31/10 | 2/28/10 | 11/30/09 | 8/31/09 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Net revenues | 711 | 103 | 172 | 334 | 67 | 26 | 290 | 331 |
| Earnings (loss) for the quarter | (10,561) | (67,356) | (24,462) | (150,875) | (16,813) | (19,412) | (28,845) | (20,435) |
| Earnings (loss) per share – basic | (0.03) | (0.22) | (0.14) | (0.68) | (0.08) | (0.10) | (0.12) | (0.11) |
| Earnings (loss) per share – diluted | (0.03) | (0.22) | (0.14) | (0.68) | (0.08) | (0.10) | (0.12) | (0.11) |

Factors that can cause fluctuations in the Company's quarterly results include the timing of stock option grants, foreign exchange gains or losses related to the Company's U.S. dollar-denominated debt when the Canadian dollar exchange rate fluctuates, disposal of assets or investments, and events such as the suspension of construction activities at the Galore Creek project or the suspension of commissioning at the Rock Creek project and subsequent activities related thereto. During the second quarter in 2009, the Company had a foreign exchange gain of \$16.1 million. During the third quarter in 2009, the Company incurred a total of \$12.0 million in interest and accretion and care and maintenance. During the last quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company incurred a \$9.1 million loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment by GCMC as certain road construction equipment and facilities were sold as the road progressed; also, the Company incurred a total of \$18.1 million in interest and accretion and care and maintenance. During the first quarter of 2010, the Company incurred \$11.5 million in interest and accretion and care and maintenance. During the second quarter of 2010, the Company incurred \$13.6 million on salaries, exploration and care and maintenance. During the third quarter of 2010, the Company recorded an impairment loss on the Rock Creek project for the year of \$116.4 million and a \$7.5 million inventory write down. During the last quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company incurred a total of \$17.9 million in care and maintenance and exploration activities. During the first quarter of 2011, the Company recorded an impairment loss on the Galore Creek project of \$52.7 million related to its power transmission rights. During the second quarter of 2011, the Company had a gain on disposition of its alluvial gold properties and recorded a gain of \$16.1 million; the Company also incurred \$6.4 million and \$4.6 million in care and maintenance and mineral property expense, respectively. The Company's properties are not yet in production; consequently, the Company believes that its loss (and consequent loss per share) is not a primary concern to investors in the Company.

Liquidity and capital resources

At May 31, 2011, the Company had \$111.6 million in cash and cash equivalents, of which \$1.8 million was held by GCMC for the Galore Creek project.

The Company expended \$13.2 million on operating activities during the three-month period ended May 31, 2011, compared with expenditures of \$11.9 million for operating activities for the same periods in 2010, mostly due to the increase in activities at the Donlin Gold and Galore Creek projects. Also during the three-month period ended May 31, 2011, the Company generated \$9.1 million in cash from financing activities compared with \$176.6 million in the same period in 2010. During the second quarter of 2011, the Company received \$8.1 million in cash from Teck's earn-in contribution to GCMC and received \$1.0 million for the exercise of stock options and warrants. The Company also expended \$13.6 million on investing activities during the three-month period ended May 31, 2011, compared with \$7.0 million in the same period in 2010. The Company funded \$6.2 million for its share of exploration costs at the Donlin Gold project compared with \$6.7 million for the same period in 2010.

The Company expended \$33.2 million on operating activities during the six-month period ended May 31, 2011, compared with expenditures of \$28.2 million for operating activities for the same periods in 2010, mostly due to the increase in activities at the Donlin Gold and Galore Creek projects. During the six-month period ended May 31, 2011, the Company generated \$12.2 million in cash from financing activities compared with \$176.9 million in the same period in 2010. The Company received \$11.4 million from warrant exercises and \$12.4 million from Teck's earn-in contribution to GCMC and paid \$11.9 million for the first of two installments for the acquisition of Ambler, with no comparative amount for the same period in 2010. The Company expended \$19.2 million on investing activities during the six-month period ended May 31, 2011, compared with \$11.3 million in the same period of 2010. The Company funded \$11.7 million for its share of exploration costs at the Donlin Gold project compared to \$10.2 million for the same period in 2010. In addition, the Company expended \$4.0 million on acquisition costs related to Copper Canyon, with no comparative amount in 2010.

The Company has no material off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual obligated undiscounted cash flow requirements as at May 31, 2011, excluding operating leases, are as follows.

in thousands of dollars of designated currency

| | Total | < 1 Year | 1–2 Years | 2–3 Years | 3–4 Years | 4–5 Years | Thereafter |
|--|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|------------|-----------|------------|
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | CA\$9,717 | CA\$9,717 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Capital leases | CA\$724 | CA\$698 | CA\$26 | - | - | - | - |
| Asset retirement obligations | CA\$23,857 | CA\$7,890 | CA\$2,297 | - | - | - | CA\$13,670 |
| Other notes payable | US\$12,000 | US\$12,000 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Convertible notes – interest (a) | US\$20,465 | US\$5,225 | US\$5,225 | US\$5,225 | US\$4,790 | - | - |
| Convertible notes – holders option (a) | US\$95,000 | - | - | - | US\$95,000 | - | - |
| Promissory note | US\$63,012 | - | 1 | ı | - | - | US\$63,012 |

(a) The Convertible notes ("Notes") mature on May 1, 2015. The holders of the Notes have the right to require the Company to repurchase all or part of their Notes on May 1, 2013 and upon certain fundamental corporate changes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

The future minimum payments under operating leases at May 31, 2011 are approximately as follows.

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | in thousands of canadian denais |
|------------|---------------------------------|
| | Operating leases |
| | \$ |
| 2011 | 405 |
| 2012 | 629 |
| 2013 | 571 |
| 2014 | 580 |
| 2015 | 662 |
| Thereafter | 1,358 |
| Total | 4,205 |

The Company's cash balances are largely invested in bank and non-asset backed commercial paper all with the two highest possible investment ratings and that can be easily liquidated with terms of 90 days or less.

Related party transactions

The Company has arms-length market-based agreements to provide certain services to Tintina Resources Inc. ("Tintina") and Alexco Resource Corp. ("Alexco"). During the six months ended May 31, 2011, the services provided were \$6,000 (May 31, 2010: \$50,000) to Tintina, a related party having one director and a major shareholder in common with the Company; and \$10,000 (May 31, 2010: \$20,000) to Alexco, a related party having two directors in common with the Company. The Company also provided exploration and management services totaling US\$0.4 million for the six months ended May 31, 2011 (May 31, 2010: US\$0.5 million) to Donlin Gold LLC. These transactions were in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed to by the parties. At May 31, 2011, the Company had \$0.5 million receivable (May 31, 2010: \$0.3 million) from related parties.

Financial instruments

The Company's financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks, including currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest risk and price risk.

(a) Currency risk

The Company is exposed to financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. The Company operates in Canada and the United States and a portion of its expenses are incurred in U.S. dollars. A significant change in the currency exchange rates between the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could have an effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations. At May 31, 2011, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars.

in thousands of U.S. dollars

| | May 31, 2011 | November 30, 2010 |
|--|--------------|-------------------|
| Cash and cash equivalents | 100,351 | 125,164 |
| Accounts receivables | 17,882 | 148 |
| Reclamation deposits | 6,845 | 6,845 |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (3,998) | (4,718) |
| Other notes payable | (11,514) | (23,026) |
| Amounts payable to Barrick – long term | (63,012) | (61,401) |
| Convertible notes | (63,026) | (60,278) |
| Total | (16,472) | (17,266) |

Based on the above net exposures, and assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 10% depreciation or appreciation of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in an increase/decrease of \$1.6 million in the Company's net earnings.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

The Company's cash equivalents and short-term investments are held through large Canadian financial institutions. Short-term and long-term investments (including those presented as part of cash and cash equivalents) are composed of financial instruments issued by Canadian banks and companies with high investment-grade ratings. These investments mature at various dates over the current operating period. The Company's accounts receivables consist of general sales tax due from the Federal Government of Canada and amounts due from related parties.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage. Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and coupon interest on the Notes are due within one year from the balance sheet date.

(d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of the short-term investments included in cash and cash equivalents is limited because these investments, although available-for-sale, are generally held to maturity. In respect of financial liabilities, convertible notes and capital leases are not subject to interest rate risk because they are at fixed rates. The promissory note owed to Barrick is variable with the U.S. prime rate. Based on the amount owing on the promissory note as at May 31, 2011, and assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 1% change in the U.S. prime rate would result in an increase/decrease of \$0.6 million in the interest accrued by the Company per annum.

(e) Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken. The Company does not currently have any hedging or other commodity-based risk management programs respecting its operations.

New accounting pronouncements

The accounting policies followed by the Company are set out in note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2010, and have been consistently followed in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations

In January 2009, the CICA issued CICA Handbook Section 1582, "Business Combinations", which replaces former guidance on business combinations. Section 1582 establishes principles and requirements of the acquisition method and related disclosures. In addition, the CICA issued Section 1601, "Consolidated Financial Statements", and Section 1602, "Non-controlling Interests", which replace the existing guidance. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements and Section 1602 provides guidance on accounting for non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. These standards apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. The Company adopted these pronouncements at December 1, 2010; the result from this adoption led to the non-controlling interest balance classified as shareholders' equity on the consolidated balance sheet and loss attributable to non-controlling interest on the statement of operations and deficit.

International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS")

In 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board ("AcSB") published a new strategic plan that will significantly affect financial reporting requirements for Canadian companies. The AcSB strategic plan outlines the convergence of Canadian GAAP with IFRS over an expected five-year transitional period. In February 2008, the AcSB announced that 2011 is the changeover date for publicly-listed companies to use IFRS, replacing Canadian GAAP. The changeover date is for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company's transition date of December 1, 2011 will require the restatement for comparative purposes of amounts reported by the Company of our interim and annual amounts for the fiscal year ending November 30, 2011.

The Company is currently engaged in the process to transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS. The transition process consists of three primary phases:

- Scoping and diagnostic phase
- Impact analysis, evaluation and design phase
- Implementation and review phase

Completion of the scoping and diagnostic phase occurred in 2010 through the completion of a preliminary diagnostic review by an external consultant. The preliminary diagnostic review included the determination, at a high level, of the financial reporting differences under IFRS and the key areas that may be impacted. From the review, a focused transition plan was created to further evaluate the areas of difference, including changes required from existing accounting policies and the impact of changes to information systems, internal controls and business processes.

The Company is currently undergoing the analysis, quantification and evaluation phase. This phase involves specification of changes required to existing accounting policies, together with an analysis of policy alternatives allowed under IFRS and development of draft IFRS financial statement content. We are completing our evaluations of the changes required to existing accounting policies, and are currently quantifying the impact of those changes on our opening balance sheet at the transition date. IFRS 1, "First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards", provides entities adopting IFRS for the first time with a number of optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions, in certain areas, to the general requirement for full retrospective application of IFRS. The Company has completed its analysis of IFRS 1 and the exemptions it will apply on transition. Management has also completed its first draft of the annual financial statement disclosure under IFRS and will continue to refine its statements prior to release.

The identified impacts disclosed below highlight the preliminary impacts and should not be regarded as final as they are subject to change. We continue to review the impacts of our accounting policy choices and have not yet completed the processing of approving and finalizing all policies. The discussion below should not be regarded as a complete list of differences as it is designed to highlight the significant impacts identified at the transition date. We also note that the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") is currently working on several projects which may significantly impact the Company's decisions, most notably as discussed below.

Through our analysis and quantification of the opening balance sheet as of December 1, 2010, the following significant impacts have been identified to date:

Foreign Currency Translation – The approach to evaluating the functional currency under IFRS focuses on determining
each individual entity's functional currency from the entity's viewpoint. Under Canadian GAAP, the functional
currency of a foreign subsidiary was determined based on whether the subsidiary was self-sustaining from the parent
entity. The IFRS approach results in a change to the functional currency of several of the Company's foreign

subsidiaries. Under IFRS 1, "First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards", an exemption is available which allows the Company to reset its cumulative translation account to zero on the transition date. The Company has elected to take this exemption. On transition, a net change to shareholders' equity of \$0.3 million is expected.

- Convertible Debt Under Canadian GAAP, the convertible debt is bifurcated into two separate elements, an equity component to recognize the conversion value of the instrument and a liability component to recognize the debt value of the instrument. As the functional currency of NovaGold is Canadian dollars and the convertible debt is denominated in US dollars, an embedded derivative is determined to exist under IFRS as the instrument is denominated in a currency other than an entity's functional currency. As a result, the Company will recognize an embedded derivative at fair value upon transition. The expected net impact to shareholders' equity on transition is a decrease of \$89.9 million and a corresponding increase to long term liabilities of \$89.9 million.
- Warrants Similarly to the convertible debentures, the Company has warrants which are denominated in a currency other than its functional currency. Under IFRS, the warrants meet the definition of a derivative instrument recorded at fair value at each reporting date, with movements through the statement of operations. The warrants were treated as an equity instrument under Canadian GAAP and recorded at fair value at inception. This treatment is similar to the presentation disclosed by the Company under its reconciliation to US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. On transition, a net reduction of \$658.8 million in shareholders' equity and a corresponding increase to long term liabilities is expected. Irrespective of the change in accounting for the warrants, the Company notes the warrants do not provide for settlement in cash.
- Asset Retirement Obligations IFRS differs from Canadian GAAP in the recognition of asset retirement obligations.
 Under IFRS, an obligation is recognized if there is a legal obligation or a constructive obligation which results in a more encompassing framework than Canadian GAAP. The Company has evaluated and determined that there are no additional constructive obligations at the transition date from the legal obligations currently recognized.
- Income Taxes One of the significant changes to IFRS from Canadian GAAP arises in the treatment of deferred taxes on the initial recognition of an asset acquisition. The Company has had several notable asset acquisitions, which under Canadian GAAP had an iterative deferred tax liability recognized where the accounting basis was greater than the tax basis. Under IFRS, a prohibition exists on the recognition of deferred taxes on acquisitions other than in a business combination. On transition, the Company expects a reduction in long term assets of \$58.2 million, a reduction in future income tax liabilities of \$7.2 million and a reduction in shareholders' equity of \$51.0 million.

On May 12, 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board released a set of 5 new standards including IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements; IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements; IFRS 12, Disclosure of Involvement in Other Entities; along with amendments to the current and renamed IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements & IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. This package of standards is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier adoption of the entire package permitted. As a result of this recent release, the Company is continuing to assess the determination of the accounting treatments of its interests in Donlin Gold and Galore Creek. We expect to complete this evaluation in the third quarter.

The implementation and review phase includes execution of any changes to information systems and business processes and completing formal authorization processes to approve recommended accounting policy changes. It will also include the collection of financial information necessary to compile IFRS-compliant financial statements and audit committee approval of IFRS financial statements. The Company has completed its analysis of its information systems and does not anticipate significant changes arising from the transition to IFRS. Several areas have been identified requiring changes to the Company's business processes which the Company is currently designing into its processes.

Management is continuing to evaluate the differences and the full impact on future financial reporting is not reasonably determinable or estimable at this time.

Critical accounting estimates

The most critical accounting estimates upon which the Company's financial status depends are those requiring estimates of the recoverability of its capitalized mineral property expenditures and intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets and the amount of future reclamation obligations.

Mineral properties and development costs

The Company expenses mineral property exploration expenditures when incurred. When it has been established that a mineral deposit is commercially mineable and an economic analysis has been completed, the costs subsequently incurred to develop a mine on the property prior to the start of mining operations are capitalized and will be amortized against future production following commencement of commercial production, or written off if the property is sold, allowed to lapse or abandoned. The Rock Creek project was impaired during the year ended November 30, 2010 and an impairment loss was proportionately allocated to mineral properties and development costs. There can be no assurances that the subsequent decision to sell or reclaim the project would result in a material gain on sale or accrual of closure costs, which would be incurred when a decision is made.

The acquisition of title to mineral properties is a complicated and uncertain process. The Company has taken steps, in accordance with industry standards, to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest. Although the Company has made efforts to ensure that legal title to its properties is properly recorded in the name of the Company, there can be no assurance that such title will ultimately be secured.

Reclamation costs

The amounts recorded for reclamation costs are estimates based on independent third party engineering studies and the Company's assessment of the work that is anticipated to remediate old mining facilities of the Company's Nome Gold site, exploration and road remediation at the Galore Creek project, and the Rock Creek mine site. An asset retirement obligation ("ARO") is recognized initially at fair value with a corresponding increase in the related asset. The ARO is accreted to full value over time through periodic charges to operations. The Galore Creek reclamation obligation has not been discounted due to the uncertainty of timing of when the costs will be incurred. Actual costs incurred during reclamation and the timing of when the costs will be incurred could be materially different from these estimates.

Risk factors

The Company and its future business, operations and financial condition are subject to various risks and uncertainties due to the nature of its business and the present stage of exploration and development of its mineral properties. Certain of these risks and uncertainties are set out below and under the heading "Risk factors" in NovaGold's Annual Information Form for the year ended November 30, 2010 available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

Ability to continue exploration activities and any future development activities, and to continue as a going concern, will depend in part on the ability to commence production and generate material revenues or to obtain suitable financing

NovaGold has limited financial resources. The Company intends to fund its plan of operations from working capital, the proceeds of financings and revenue from land and gravel sales. In the future, the Company's ability to continue its exploration and development activities, if any, will depend in part on the Company's ability to obtain suitable financing.

There can be no assurance that the Company will commence production at any of its mineral properties, generate sufficient revenues to meet its obligations as they become due or obtain necessary financing on acceptable terms, if at all. The Company's failure to meet its ongoing obligations on a timely basis could result in the loss or substantial dilution of the Company's interests (as existing or as proposed to be acquired) in its properties. In addition, should the Company incur significant losses in future periods, it may be unable to continue as a going concern, and realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in other than the normal course of business may be at amounts materially different than the Company's estimates.

Exploration and development

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. The Company has only defined or delineated reserves at its Donlin Gold projects and none of its properties are currently under development. The future development of any properties found to be economically feasible will require obtaining permits, financing and construction. The Company is subject to all the risks associated with establishing new mining operations. In addition, there is no assurance that the Company's mineral exploration activities will result in any discoveries of new bodies of ore. There is also no assurance that if further mineralization is discovered that the ore body would be economical for commercial production. Discovery of mineral deposits is dependent upon a number of factors and significantly influenced by the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. The commercial viability of a mineral deposit is also dependent upon a number of factors that are beyond the Company's control. Some of these factors are the attributes of the deposit, commodity prices, government policies and regulation and environmental protection.

Environmental laws and regulations

All of the Company's exploration and production activities in Canada and the United States are subject to regulation by governmental agencies under various environmental laws. To the extent that the Company conducts exploration activities or undertakes new mining activities in other foreign countries, the Company will also be subject to environmental laws and regulations in those jurisdictions. These laws address emissions into the air, discharges into water, management of waste, management of hazardous substances, protection of natural resources, antiquities and endangered species, and reclamation of lands disturbed by mining operations. Environmental legislation in many countries is evolving and the trend has been toward stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and increasing responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may require significant capital outlays on behalf of the Company and may cause material changes or delays in the Company's intended activities. There can be no assurance that future changes in environmental regulations will not adversely affect the Company's business, and it is possible that future changes in these laws or regulations could have a significant adverse impact on some portion of the Company's business, causing the Company to reevaluate those activities at that time.

In February and March 2011, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary AGC received a total of three citations and orders from the Mine Safety Health Administration ("MSHA") alleging certain violations of U.S. Federal mine safety laws under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the "Mine Safety Act") at the Rock Creek project. MSHA issued a 104(a) citation to AGC on February 25, 2011, for an alleged minor paperwork violation for failing to include a required paragraph in a report. The proposed penalty for this minor alleged violation is \$100. MSHA issued two 104(a) citations to AGC on March 10, 2011 for AGC's alleged failure to post adequate warning signs and to conduct gas, mist, and dust surveys for an area of the mine. No penalty has yet been assessed for these violations; however, the estimated amount is between \$800 to \$6,600. AGC has contested these citations and will contest the proposed assessment when it is issued. In May 2011, AGC received a proposed assessment for seven of the 104(a) citations issued in December 2010 totaling \$1,577. AGC has contested this assessment. Citations under Section 104(a) are issued for situations in which the MHSA inspector determines that the operator has violated the Mining Act or any mandatory health or safety standard, rule, order or regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act.

Previous estimates of overall liability were based on a statutory maximum penalty of up to \$500,000. However, given the assessment of outstanding citations to date of \$32,805 and based on recent meetings with MSHA, the reasonable maximum penalties for existing and outstanding penalties is \$50,000 in total estimated penalties. This estimate assumes that MSHA exercises its special assessment authority for assessing the remaining citations. Reserve and resource estimates

Reserve and resource estimates

There is a degree of uncertainty attributable to the calculation of reserves and resources and the corresponding grades. Reserve and resource estimates are dependent partially on statistical inferences drawn from drilling, sampling and other data. Reserve and resource figures set forth by the Company are estimates, and there is no certainty that the mineral deposits would yield the production of metals indicated by reserve and resource estimates. Declines in the market price for metals may adversely affect the economics of a deposit and may require the Company to reduce its reserve and resource estimates. As defined by the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM) and included by reference in National Instrument 43-101, NovaGold records Proven and Probable Reserves at its projects upon completion of a pre-feasibility or feasibility level study that demonstrates the economics of developing the mineral deposit. This policy is generally adopted by Canadian mining companies, but differs from the United States policy of recognizing Proven and Probable Reserves once the majority of major development permits have been received.

Price volatility - gold, copper and other metals

The market price for gold, copper and other metals is volatile and cannot be controlled. There is no assurance that if commercial quantities of gold, copper and other metals are discovered, a profitable market may exist or continue to exist for a production decision to be made or for the ultimate sale of the metals. As the Company is currently not in production, no sensitivity analysis for price changes has been provided or carried out.

Electrum is the Company's majority shareholder and has the ability to significantly influence the Company

Through its existing shareholding in the Company and the rights it holds to acquire additional common shares, Electrum Strategic Resources LLC ("Electrum") has the ability to exercise voting power to significantly influence in determining the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to the shareholders for approval, including mergers, consolidations and the sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, and other significant corporate actions. Unless the majority of shareholders participate in such shareholder meetings, Electrum may be able to approve such matters itself.

Without the consent of Electrum, the Company could be prevented from entering into transactions that are otherwise beneficial to the Company. The interests of Electrum may differ from the interests of the Company's other shareholders.

NovaGold has been, and in the future may be, subject to legal proceedings

Due to the nature of its business, the Company may be subject to numerous regulatory investigations, claims, lawsuits and other proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. The results of these legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty due to the uncertainty inherent in litigation, including the effects of discovery of new evidence or advancement of new legal theories, the difficulty of predicting decisions of judges and juries and the possibility that decisions may be reversed on appeal. There can be no assurances that these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's business.

On May 11, 2011, one claim was settled that had been filed against NovaGold in the United States Federal District Court for the District of Alaska. The settlement was paid through insurance and NovaGold did not pay any funds out of its cash balance. The claims were originally filed in July 15, 2009 against NovaGold, AGC and other parties seeking wrongful death damages as the result of an accident on July 19, 2007, where two employees of a contractor were killed in a construction-related accident at the Company's Rock Creek project. The Company and AGC filed an answer to the complaint denying all allegations and asserting certain affirmative defenses, and the claims against AGC were dismissed on May 19, 2010 by agreement without any payment. The settlement reached on May 11, 2011 has resolved this issue and the plaintiffs do not have any further recourse against the Company.

Increased regulatory compliance costs relating to Dodd-Frank

In July 2010, the "Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act" ("Dodd-Frank Act") was enacted, representing an overhaul of the framework for regulation of U.S. financial markets. The Dodd-Frank Act calls for various regulatory agencies, including the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and the Commodities Futures Trading Commission, to establish regulations for implementation of many of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, and the Company anticipates that these new regulations will provide additional clarity regarding the extent of the impact of this legislation on NovaGold. The Dodd-Frank Act also requires companies in the mining industry to disclose in their periodic reports filed with the SEC substantial additional information about safety issues relating to their mining operations. The Company may also incur additional costs associated with the Company's compliance with the new regulations and anticipated additional reporting and disclosure obligations. While the Company is not able to assess the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act until all the implementing regulations have been adopted, based on the information available to the Company at this time the Company does not believe provisions of the regulations implementing the Dodd-Frank Act will have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Cautionary notes

Forward-looking statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysis contains certain forward-looking statements concerning anticipated developments in NovaGold's operations in future periods. Forward-looking statements are frequently, but not always, identified by words such as "expects", "anticipates", "believes", "intends", "estimates", "potential", "possible" and similar expressions, or statements that events, conditions or results "will", "may", "could" or "should" occur or be achieved. These forward-looking statements are set forth principally under the heading "Outlook" and elsewhere in the Management's Discussion and Analysis and may include statements regarding perceived merit of properties; ability to commence, or in the case of Rock Creek, seek shareholder value from its properties; exploration results and budgets; mineral reserve and resource estimates; work programs; capital expenditures; timelines; strategic plans; the completion of transactions; market price of precious and base metals; or other statements that are not statements of fact. Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual achievements of NovaGold may differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors. NovaGold's forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs, expectations and opinions of management on the date the statements are made, and NovaGold does not assume any obligation to update forward-looking statements if circumstances or management's beliefs, expectations or opinions should change except as required by law. For the reasons set forth above, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from NovaGold's expectations include uncertainties involved in disputes and litigation; fluctuations in gold, copper and other commodity prices and currency exchange rates; uncertainties relating to interpretation of drill results and the geology, continuity and grade of mineral deposits; uncertainty of estimates of capital and operating costs, recovery rates, production estimates and estimated economic return; the need for cooperation of Barrick and Teck to advance the Donlin Gold and Galore Creek projects, respectively; the need for cooperation of government agencies and native groups in the exploration and development of properties and the issuance of required permits; the need to obtain additional financing to develop properties and uncertainty as to the availability and terms of future financing; the possibility of delay in exploration or development programs or in construction projects and uncertainty of meeting

anticipated program milestones; uncertainty as to timely availability of permits and other governmental approvals; and other risks and uncertainties disclosed here in under the heading "Risk Factors" and in NovaGold's Annual Information Form for the year ended November 30, 2010, filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities, NovaGold's annual report on Form 40-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), and other information released by NovaGold and filed with the appropriate regulatory agencies.

Reserve and resource estimates

This Management's Discussion and Analysis and other information released by NovaGold uses the terms "resources", "measured resources", "indicated resources" and "inferred resources". United States investors are advised that, while such terms are recognized and required by Canadian securities laws, the SEC does not recognize them. Under United States standards, mineralization may not be classified as a "reserve" unless the determination has been made that the mineralization could be economically and legally produced or extracted at the time the reserve determination is made. Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. United States investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of measured or indicated resources will ever be converted into reserves. Inferred resources are in addition to measured and indicated resources. Further, inferred resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and as to whether they can be mined legally or economically. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of the inferred resources will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Therefore, United States investors are also cautioned not to assume that all or any part of the inferred resources exist, or that they can be mined legally or economically. National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects ("NI 43-101") is a rule developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators, which established standards for all public disclosure an issuer makes of scientific and technical information concerning mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all reserve and resource estimates contained in this Management's Discussion and Analysis and in press releases by the Company in the past and in the future, have been or will be prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum Classification System. The requirements of NI 43-101 are not the same as those of the SEC, and reserves reported by NovaGold in compliance with NI 43-101 may not qualify as reserves under the SEC's standards.

Consolidated Balance Sheets – Unaudited

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | May 31, 2011 | November 30, 2010 |
|---|--------------|-------------------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Assets | | · |
| Current assets | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | 111,570 | 151,723 |
| Accounts receivable | 1,266 | 1,037 |
| Note receivable (note 5) | 17,221 | , - |
| Inventories (note 6) | 8,093 | 8,120 |
| Deposits and prepaid amounts | 1,430 | 1,938 |
| | 139,580 | 162,818 |
| | | |
| Accounts receivable | 127 | 142 |
| Land | 195 | 1,876 |
| Property, plant and equipment (note 7) | 349,943 | 346,777 |
| Mineral properties, rights and development costs (note 8) | 275,014 | 266,408 |
| Investments (note 9) | 9,115 | 7,362 |
| Investment tax credits | 3,271 | 3,271 |
| Reclamation deposits | 12,755 | 13,086 |
| | 790,000 | 801,740 |
| Liabilities | | |
| Current liabilities | | |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | 11,820 | 9,654 |
| Current portion of asset retirement obligations | 7,890 | 7,890 |
| Current portion of capital lease obligation | 698 | 698 |
| Notes payable | 11,153 | 12,245 |
| Long town linkilities | 31,561 | 30,487 |
| Long-term liabilities | 61 024 | 62.024 |
| Promissory note (note 9(b)) | 61,034 | 63,034 |
| Convertible notes (note 10) | 61,086 | 61,882 369 |
| Capital lease obligations Asset retirement obligations | 15,967 | 15,967 |
| Future income taxes | 15,298 | 7,193 |
| Other liabilities | 13,298 | 11,594 |
| Other nabilities | 185,149 | 190,526 |
| | 105,145 | 130,320 |
| Shareholders' equity | | |
| Share capital (note 11) | 1,136,743 | 1,077,219 |
| Equity component of convertible notes (note 10) | 43,352 | 43,352 |
| Contributed surplus | 8,629 | 8,629 |
| Stock-based compensation (note 11) | 34,618 | 30,589 |
| Warrants (note 11) | 24,131 | 28,488 |
| Deficit | (934,334) | (875,807) |
| Accumulated other comprehensive income | 1,410 | 1,452 |
| Non-controlling interest (note 4) | 290,302 | 297,292 |
| | 604,851 | 611,214 |
| | 790,000 | 801,740 |
| Nature of operations (note 1) | | |
| Commitments and contingencies (note 14) | | |

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)

| /s/ Rick Van Nieuwenhuy: | se, Director |
|--------------------------|--------------|
| Approved by the Board of | f Directors |

/s/ James Philip, Director

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit – Unaudited

in thousands of Canadian dollars,

| except for per share and share amou | | | | |
|---|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | Three months | Three months | Six months | Six months |
| | ended | ended | ended | ended |
| | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Revenue | | | | |
| Land, gravel, gold and other revenue | 193 | 67 | 209 | 93 |
| Interest income | 573 | 125 | 710 | 210 |
| | 766 | 192 | 919 | 303 |
| Cost of sales | 55 | 63 | 105 | 103 |
| | 711 | 129 | 814 | 200 |
| Expenses and other items | | | | |
| Corporate development and communication | 208 | 432 | 316 | 649 |
| Equity loss (note 9) | 5,562 | 4,621 | 10,183 | 7,017 |
| Foreign exchange (gain) loss | 162 | (3,299) | (830) | (3,177) |
| General and administrative | 1,553 | 1,283 | 2,374 | 2,140 |
| Interest and accretion | 3,560 | 3,768 | 7,292 | 7,428 |
| Mineral property expense | 4,573 | 617 | 7,141 | 928 |
| Professional fees | 1,528 | 332 | 1,861 | 1,065 |
| Project care and maintenance | 6,347 | 5,483 | 11,393 | 13,359 |
| Salaries | 2,075 | 2,926 | 4,544 | 4,201 |
| Salaries – stock-based compensation (note 11 (b), (c) and (d)) | 1,514 | 1,050 | 5,052 | 3,141 |
| Total expenses | 27,082 | 17,213 | 49,326 | 36,751 |
| Loss before other items | (26,371) | (17,084) | (48,512) | (36,551) |
| | (-/- /_ | ,,,,,, | (-,- ,_ | (==,== , |
| Other items | | | - | |
| Asset impairment – power transmission rights (note 8) | - | - | 52,668 | - |
| Gain on disposition of alluvial gold properties (note 5) | (16,110) | - | (16,110) | - |
| | (16,110) | - | 36,558 | - |
| Loss for the period before income taxes | (10,261) | (17,084) | (85,070) | (36,551) |
| Future income tax recovery – power transmission rights | (==,===, | (=:,==:, | (55,515) | (00,000) |
| (note 8) | _ | _ | (9,722) | _ |
| Future income tax expense (recovery) | 300 | (271) | 2,569 | (326) |
| Loss for the period | (10,561) | (16,813) | (77,917) | (36,225) |
| Attributable to the shareholders of the Company | (7,076) | (15,753) | (58,527) | (34,470) |
| Attributable to non-controlling interest | (1,010) | (13,733) | (30,327) | (31,170) |
| Power transmission rights (note 4 and 8) | _ | _ | (13,779) | _ |
| Operating expenses (note 4) | (3,485) | (1,060) | (5,611) | (1,755) |
| operating expenses (note 1) | (10,561) | (16,813) | (77,917) | (36,225) |
| Loss for the period – attributable to the shareholders of the | (10,501) | (10,013) | (77,527) | (30,223) |
| Company | (7,076) | (15,753) | (58,527) | (34,470) |
| Deficit – beginning of period | (927,258) | (690,975) | (875,807) | (672,258) |
| | | | | (706,728) |
| Deficit – end of period Loss per share – attributable to the shareholders of the | (934,334) | (706,728) | (934,334) | (700,728) |
| | | | | |
| Company Basic and diluted | (0.03) | (0.07) | (0.35) | (0.47) |
| | (0.03) | (0.07) | (0.25) | (0.17) |
| Weighted average number of shares (thousands) | 233,995 | 217,112 | 233,050 | 202,650 |

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss – Unaudited

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | in thousands of Canadian dollars | | | |
|---|----------------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | Three months | Three months | Six months | Six months |
| | ended | ended | ended | ended |
| | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Net loss for the period | (7,076) | (15,753) | (58,527) | (34,470) |
| Unrealized loss on available-for-sale investments | (1,732) | (247) | (82) | (478) |
| Future income tax recovery | 396 | 93 | 40 | 183 |
| Comprehensive loss | (8,412) | (15,907) | (58,569) | (34,765) |
| Attributable to the shareholders of the Company | (4,927) | (14,847) | (39,179) | (33,010) |
| Attributable to the non-controlling interest (note 4) | (3,485) | (1,060) | (19,390) | (1,755) |
| | (8,412) | (15,907) | (58,569) | (34,765) |

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity – Unaudited

| in thousands of Canadian dollars | | | | |
|---|------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| | Six months ended | Year ended | | |
| | May 31, 2011 | November 30, 2010 | | |
| | \$ | \$ | | |
| Share capital | _ | | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 1,077,219 | 878,086 | | |
| Issued pursuant to acquisition of Copper Canyon (note 3) | 42,339 | - | | |
| Issued pursuant to private placement net of share issue costs | _ | 179,000 | | |
| Issued pursuant to stock options exercised | 1,470 | 3,991 | | |
| Issued pursuant to warrants exercised | 15,715 | 9,549 | | |
| Issued pursuant to performance share units vested | _ | 1,426 | | |
| Issued pursuant to property acquisition | - | 5,167 | | |
| Balance – end of period | 1,136,743 | 1,077,219 | | |
| Equity component of convertible notes | | | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 43,352 | 43,352 | | |
| Balance – end of period | 43,352 | 43,352 | | |
| Contributed surplus | | · | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 8,629 | 9,994 | | |
| Excess value over fair value of performance share unit (note 11 (c)) | _ | (1,365) | | |
| Balance – end of period | 8,629 | 8,629 | | |
| Stock-based compensation | 3,023 | 0,023 | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 30,589 | 31,838 | | |
| Stock option vesting | 4,020 | 3,738 | | |
| Performance share unit vesting | 1,002 | 1,352 | | |
| Director share unit grants | 1,002 | 101 | | |
| Transfer to share capital on exercise of stock options | (1,059) | (3,991) | | |
| Transfer to share capital on issuance of performance share units | (1,059) | (2,449) | | |
| · | 24.619 | | | |
| Balance – end of period | 34,618 | 30,589 | | |
| Warrants | 20,400 | 24.055 | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 28,488 | 31,065 | | |
| Transfer to share capital on exercise of warrants | (4,357) | (2,577) | | |
| Balance – end of period | 24,131 | 28,488 | | |
| Deficit | | | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | (875,807) | (672,258) | | |
| Loss for the period – attributable to the shareholders of the Company | (58,527) | (203,549) | | |
| Balance – end of period | (934,334) | (875,807) | | |
| Accumulated other comprehensive income | _ | | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 1,452 | 495 | | |
| Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale investments | (82) | 994 | | |
| Future income taxes on unrealized losses (gains) | 40 | (37) | | |
| Balance – end of period | 1,410 | 1,452 | | |
| Total shareholders' equity | 314,549 | 313,922 | | |
| Non-controlling interest (note 4) | | • | | |
| Balance – beginning of period | 297,292 | 293,247 | | |
| Contributions by Teck Resources Limited | 12,399 | 12,058 | | |
| Loss for the period – attributable to the non-controlling interest | (19,389) | (8,013) | | |
| Balance – end of period | 290,302 | 297,292 | | |
| Total equity | 604,851 | 611,214 | | |

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows – Unaudited

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| in thousands of Canada | | | | Canadian dollars |
|---|--------------|--------------|--------------|------------------|
| | Three months | Three months | Six months | Six months |
| | ended | ended | ended | ended |
| | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2010 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Cash flows used in operating activities | | | | |
| Loss for the period | (10,561) | (16,813) | (77,917) | (36,225) |
| Items not affecting cash | | | | |
| Amortization | 88 | 245 | 129 | 307 |
| Asset impairment – power transmission rights (note 8) | | | | |
| Impairment charge | - | - | 52,668 | - |
| Future income tax recovery | - | - | (9,722) | - |
| Equity loss | 5,562 | 4,621 | 10,183 | 7,017 |
| Future income tax expense (recovery) | (96) | (640) | 2,173 | (692) |
| Interest and accretion | 1,932 | 3,768 | 5,664 | 7,428 |
| Mineral properties expense | | 29 | 36 | 296 |
| Stock-based compensation | 1,514 | 1,050 | 5,052 | 3,141 |
| Gain on disposition of alluvial gold properties (note 5) | (16,110) | 1,030 | (16,110) | 3,141 |
| Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss | 24 | (2,409) | (7,727) | (2,497) |
| Net change in non-cash working capital | 24 | (2,403) | (7,727) | (2,437) |
| Decrease in receivables, deposits and prepaid amounts, and | | | | |
| deferred charges | 1,472 | 740 | 490 | 607 |
| | 1,472 | 35 | 27 | 94 |
| Decrease in inventories | 17 | 33 | 27 | 94 |
| Decrease (increase) in accounts payable and accrued | 2.052 | (2.554) | 1 010 | (7.670) |
| liabilities | 2,952 | (2,554) | 1,819 | (7,670) |
| | (13,206) | (11,928) | (33,235) | (28,194) |
| Cash flows from financing activities | | | | |
| Proceeds from issuance of common shares – net | 351 | 179,000 | 411 | 179,000 |
| Payments from non – controlling interest | 8,098 | - | 12,399 | - |
| Proceeds from warrant exercise | 666 | - | 11,359 | 248 |
| Payment of note payable | - | - | (11,921) | - |
| Payroll and withholding tax on issuance of performance | | | | |
| share units | - | (2,387) | - | (2,387) |
| | 9,115 | 176,613 | 12,248 | 176,861 |
| Cash flows used in investing activities | | | | |
| Acquisition of property, plant and equipment | (3,260) | (306) | (3,292) | (469) |
| (Expenditures) recoveries on mineral properties and related | | | | |
| deferred costs | 72 | 77 | - | (482) |
| Reclamation bonds | (66) | - | (66) | - |
| Decrease (increase) in long term accounts receivable | 110 | (103) | 118 | (103) |
| Investment in Donlin Gold | (6,203) | (6,701) | (11,650) | (10,283) |
| Purchase of marketable securities | (269) | - | (269) | - |
| Acquisition of Copper Canyon (note 3) | (4,007) | - | (4,007) | - |
| | (13,623) | (7,033) | (19,166) | (11,337) |
| Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the | , , , | , , , | | ` , , |
| period | (17,714) | 157,652 | (40,153) | 137,330 |
| Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period | 129,284 | 17,858 | 151,723 | 38,180 |
| Cash and cash equivalents – end of period | 111,570 | 175,510 | 111,570 | 175,510 |
| Supplemental disclosure | 211,570 | 273,310 | 211,570 | 2,3,310 |
| Interest received | 102 | 118 | 236 | 203 |
| Interest received | (2,483) | (2,639) | (2,483) | (2,646) |
| Non – cash investing activity: | (2,465) | (2,039) | (2,403) | (2,040) |
| | | | | |
| Common shares issued for acquisition of Copper Canyon | 42.220 | | 42 220 | |
| (note 3) | 42,339 | _ | 42,339 | - |

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement)

1 Nature of operations

NovaGold Resources Inc. ("NovaGold" or "the Company") is a precious metals company engaged in the exploration and development of mineral properties located primarily in Alaska, U.S.A. and British Columbia, Canada.

The Donlin Gold project (formerly: Donlin Creek project) in Alaska is held by a limited liability company owned equally by wholly-owned subsidiaries of NovaGold and Barrick Gold Corporation ("Barrick"). The Galore Creek project is held by a partnership owned equally by wholly-owned subsidiaries of NovaGold and Teck Resources Limited ("Teck"). The Ambler project in Alaska is 100% owned by NovaGold.

2 Accounting policies

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in Canada ("Canadian GAAP") and include the accounts of NovaGold Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries, NovaGold Canada Inc., Copper Canyon Resources Ltd. ("Copper Canyon"), Alaska Gold Company ("AGC") and NovaGold Resources Alaska, Inc. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. In addition, the Company consolidates variable interest entities for which it is determined to be the primary beneficiary.

As these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements do not contain all of the disclosures required by Canadian GAAP for complete financial statements, they should be read in conjunction with the notes to the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2010.

The accounting policies followed by the Company are set out in note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2010, and have been consistently followed in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations

In January 2009, the CICA issued CICA Handbook Section 1582, "Business Combinations", which replaces former guidance on business combinations. Section 1582 establishes principles and requirements of the acquisition method and related disclosures. In addition, the CICA issued Section 1601, "Consolidated Financial Statements", and Section 1602, "Non-controlling Interests", which replace the existing guidance. Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements and Section 1602 provides guidance on accounting for non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. The Company adopted these pronouncements at December 1, 2010; the result of this adoption led to the non-controlling interest balance being classified as shareholders' equity on the consolidated balance sheet and non-controlling interest loss and loss attributable to shareholders is shown separately.

3 Acquisition of Copper Canyon

On May 20, 2011, under a plan of arrangement the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Copper Canyon. Copper Canyon shareholders received common shares of the Company on the basis of 0.0735 of a NovaGold common share and \$0.001 for each common share of Copper Canyon. The Company issued 4,171,303 common shares to Copper Canyon shareholders at a price of \$10.15 per share, which was the Company's share TSX closing price on the closing date of the transaction and paid the shareholders of Copper Canyon \$57,000. As part of the plan of arrangement, the Company also received 1,725,857 shares of Omineca Mining and Metals Ltd which are held as available for sale investments.

The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition which, under Canadian GAAP, requires the tax effects of the difference between the assigned values and their tax bases to be recognized in future income taxes and allocated to the cost of purchase. The excess of consideration over book value acquired amounted to \$45,899,000, including a future income tax provision of \$15,298,000, and was allocated to the Copper Canyon mineral property as follows:

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| in thousands of canadian done | | | | | |
|---|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| | May 31, 2011 | | | | |
| | \$ | | | | |
| Issuance of 4,171,303 NovaGold shares | 42,339 | | | | |
| Cost of subscription of shares in Copper Canyon | 2,318 | | | | |
| Cash consideration | 57 | | | | |
| Transaction costs | 1,742 | | | | |
| Purchase consideration | 46,456 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| The purchase price was allocated as follows: | | | | | |
| Net working capital acquired | 480 | | | | |
| Mineral properties, rights and development costs (note 8) | 61,274 | | | | |
| Future income taxes | (15,298) | | | | |
| Net identifiable assets | 46,456 | | | | |

4 Galore Creek Partnership

The Company determined that the Galore Creek Partnership is a variable interest entity and consequently uses the principles of Accounting Guideline 15 ("AcG-15") Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities to determine the accounting for its ownership interest. Management concluded that the Company is the primary beneficiary and consolidates the activities of the Galore Creek Partnership.

The Galore Creek Partnership was formed in May 2007, with Teck able to earn a 50% interest in the Galore Creek project by funding approximately \$520.0 million in project development costs. The Galore Creek Partnership funding arrangement was amended following the November 2007 decision to suspend construction activities at the project, and again in February 2009. Under the terms of the current agreement, Teck is funding all costs for the Galore Creek project up to approximately \$373.3 million, at which point the partners will share project costs on a 50/50 basis. At May 31, 2011, the Galore Creek Partnership had cash of \$1.8 million. Total cash contributions to date by Teck at May 31, 2011 were \$372.5 million and \$0.8 million remained to be contributed by Teck to earn its 50% interest. During the 6 months ended May 31, 2011, Teck contributed \$12.4 million to the Galore Creek Partnership; its share of expenses was \$5.6 million and its share of impairment costs was \$13.8 million for a total of \$19.4 million.

Subsequent to May 31, 2011, Teck has completed its funding and the Company and Teck will be responsible for equally funding all future costs for the Galore Creek project. Teck's funding completion is a reconsideration event under AcG-15. Management has subsequently reconsidered the situation after Teck's earn-in and assessed that the Company remains the primary beneficiary and will continue to consolidate the activities of the Galore Creek Partnership.

5 Note receivable

On March 14, 2011, the Company divested its patented alluvial gold mining claims near Nome, Alaska, held by AGC, for a purchase price of US\$21.0 million to be paid in three installments over two years. A total of US\$6.1 million is due during the year and US\$14.0 million is due in 2012. The Company will also be provided with a letter of credit for \$US4.0 million as an environmental reclamation bond. The Company used a weighted average cost of capital at 20.0% to discount the 2012 payment.

6 Inventories

| m theusanus of ear | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | May 31, 2011 | | | | | | |
| | \$ | \$ | | | | | |
| Gold | 522 | 519 | | | | | |
| Supplies | 7,571 | 7,601 | | | | | |
| Total inventories | 8,093 | 8,120 | | | | | |

7 Property, plant and equipment

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | | | May 31, 2011 |
|---------------------------------------|---------|--------------|--------------|
| | | Accumulated | |
| | Cost | amortization | Net |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Alaska, USA | | | |
| Equipment - Ambler | 1,168 | (55) | 1,113 |
| British Columbia, Canada | | | |
| Construction costs – Galore Creek (a) | 320,949 | - | 320,949 |
| Mobile equipment – Galore Creek (a) | 26,651 | - | 26,651 |
| Office furniture and equipment | 2,533 | (1,572) | 961 |
| Leasehold improvements | 628 | (359) | 269 |
| | 351,929 | (1,986) | 349,943 |

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | | | Nov | ember 30, 2010 |
|--|---------|--------------------------|------------|----------------|
| | Cost | Accumulated amortization | Impairment | Net |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Alaska, USA | | | | |
| Construction costs – Rock Creek | 90,519 | = | (90,519) | - |
| Mining and milling equipment – Rock Creek | 15,342 | - | (15,342) | - |
| Heavy machinery and equipment – Rock Creek | 1,680 | (570) | (1,110) | - |
| Building | 297 | (161) | (136) | - |
| British Columbia, Canada | | | | |
| Construction costs – Galore Creek (a) | 318,877 | - | - | 318,877 |
| Mobile equipment – Galore Creek (a) | 26,651 | = | - | 26,651 |
| Office furniture and equipment | 2,506 | (1,505) | - | 1,001 |
| Leasehold improvements | 575 | (327) | - | 248 |
| | 456,447 | (2,563) | (107,107) | 346,777 |

⁽a) Construction costs and mobile equipment had not yet been placed in productive activity, and accordingly were not depreciated.

8 Mineral properties, rights and development costs

| | November 30, 2010 \$ | Expenditures (Amortization) \$ | Impairment \$ | May 31, 2011 \$ |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|--------------------|
| Alaska, USA | | | | |
| Ambler | 27,437 | - | - | 27,437 |
| British Columbia, Canada | | | | |
| Copper Canyon (note 3) | - | 61,274 | - | 61,274 |
| Galore Creek | 185,855 | 334 | - | 186,189 |
| Power transmission rights (a) | 53,002 | (334) | (52,668) | - |
| Rio Negro, Argentina | | | | _ |
| San Roque | 114 | - | - | 114 |
| | 266,408 | 61,274 | (52,668) | 275,014 |

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | November 30, 2009 \$ | Expenditures (Amortization) \$ | Impairment \$ | November 30, 2010 \$ |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|-------------------------|
| Alaska, USA | | | | |
| Ambler | - | 27,437 | - | 27,437 |
| Rock Creek | 8,395 | 868 | (9,263) | - |
| British Columbia, Canada | | | | |
| Galore Creek | 184,400 | 1,455 | - | 185,855 |
| Power transmission rights | 54,335 | (1,333) | - | 53,002 |
| Rio Negro, Argentina | | | | |
| San Roque | - | 114 | - | 114 |
| | 247,130 | 28,541 | (9,263) | 266,408 |

(a) In May 2006, NovaGold acquired Coast Mountain Power Corp. and all of its assets, which included the power transmission rights to build a 138kV power line from Meziadin Junction to Bob Quinn to bring power to the Galore Creek project. In 2010, the Canadian Federal and British Columbia Provincial Governments announced their intention to build a high-capacity 287-kV transmission line ("NTL") in northwestern British Columbia that would follow roughly the same route from Meziadin Junction to Bob Quinn. The NTL received Provincial environmental assessment approval in February and Federal approval in May; hence, NovaGold will not need to build its own transmission line to bring power to the Galore Creek project, and management has accordingly impaired the full value of the 138 kV power transmission rights of \$52.7 million and recorded a related future income tax recovery of \$9.7 million and a corresponding offset to non-controlling interest for the impairment in the amount of \$13.8 million.

9 Investments

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | , | |
|---|-------------------|-------|
| | November 30, 2010 | |
| | \$ | \$ |
| Available-for-sale investments (a) | 5,949 | 5,665 |
| Investments accounted for under the equity method | | |
| Donlin Gold (b) | 3,166 | 1,697 |
| Total investments | 9,115 | 7,362 |

Investment in Donlin Gold accounted for using the equity method as follows.

| | November 30, 2010 | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------|----------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Balance – beginning of period | 1,697 | 849 |
| Funding | 11,652 | 21,721 |
| Equity loss | (10,183) | (20,873) |
| Balance – end of period | 3,166 | 1,697 |

- (a) Investments classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value (or mark-to-market) based on quoted market prices, with unrealized gains or losses excluded from earnings and reported as other comprehensive income or loss. The total cost as at May 31, 2011 was \$4.6 million (November 30, 2010: \$4.2 million) and total unrealized holding gain for the six months ended May 31, 2011 was \$0.1 million (November 30, 2010: \$1.0 million). The balance includes marketable securities of two companies that have a director and a major shareholder in common with NovaGold; 3,125,000 shares in Tintina Resources Inc. (cost: \$1.4 million; fair value at May 31, 2011: \$1.8 million), and 3,125,000 shares in AsiaBaseMetals Inc. (cost: \$0.2 million; fair value at May 31, 2011: \$0.9 million).
- (b) On December 1, 2007, together with Barrick, the Company formed a limited liability company ("Donlin Gold LLC" formerly "Donlin Creek LLC") to advance the Donlin Gold project. The Donlin Gold LLC has a board of four directors, with two nominees selected by each company. All significant decisions related to the Donlin Gold project require the approval of both companies. As part of the Donlin Gold agreement, the Company agreed to reimburse Barrick over time approximately US\$64.3 million, representing 50% of Barrick's approximately US\$128.6 million in expenditures at the Donlin Gold project

from April 1, 2006 to November 30, 2007. Reimbursement had been partially made by the Company paying US\$12.7 million of Barrick's share of project development costs during 2008. A promissory note for the remaining US\$51.6 million plus interest accrued at a rate of U.S. prime plus 2% will be paid out of future mine production cash flow. Both parties are currently sharing development costs on a 50/50 basis. Interest on this long-term promissory note is expensed.

The Company determined that the Donlin Gold LLC is a variable interest entity and consequently uses the principles of AcG-15 Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities to determine the accounting for its 50% ownership interest. Management concluded that the Company is not the primary beneficiary and has accounted for its investment in the Donlin Gold LLC using the equity method of accounting. The equity method is a basis of accounting for investments whereby the investment is initially recorded at cost and the carrying value, adjusted thereafter to include the investor's pro rata share of post-acquisition earnings of the investee, is computed by the consolidation method. Profit distributions received or receivable from an investee reduce the carrying value of the investment.

10 Convertible notes

On March 26, 2008, the Company issued US\$95.0 million (Canadian equivalent: \$96.7 million) in 5.5% unsecured senior convertible notes ("Notes") maturing on May 1, 2015, and incurred a 3% underwriter's fee and other expenses aggregating \$3.5 million, for net proceeds of \$93.2 million. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 1 and November 1 of each year, beginning November 1, 2008. The Notes are convertible into the Company's common shares at a fixed conversion rate of US\$10.61 per common share. A total of 8,952,971 common shares are issuable upon conversion and additional shares may become issuable following the occurrence of certain corporate acts or events. On conversion, at the Company's election, holders of the Notes will receive cash, if applicable, or a combination of cash and shares. Holders of the Notes have the right to require the Company to repurchase all or part of their Notes on May 1, 2013, or upon certain fundamental corporate changes, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

The Notes are classified as a liability. The fair value of the conversion feature on the date of issue of \$43.4 million is classified as a component of shareholders' equity and was deducted from the initial amount of the liability recorded. As a result, the recorded liability to repay the Notes was initially lower than its face value. Using the effective interest rate method and the 17.78% rate implicit in the calculation, the difference of \$43.4 million, characterized as the note discount, is being charged to interest expense and accreted to the liability over the term of the Notes.

| | iii tiit | sasamas of camaaram acmars | |
|---|-------------------|----------------------------|---------|
| | November 30, 2010 | | |
| | | \$ | \$ |
| Beginning balance | | 61,882 | 58,553 |
| Accretion of debt discount for the period | | 2,738 | 4,975 |
| Foreign exchange revaluation | | (3,534) | (1,646) |
| Convertible notes liability | | 61,086 | 61,882 |
| Conversion right | | 43,352 | 44,992 |
| Financing costs allocated to equity component | | - | (1,640) |
| Equity component of convertible notes | | 43,352 | 43,352 |

11 Share capital

Authorized

1,000,000,000 common shares, no par value 10,000,000 preferred shares issuable in one or more series

in thousands of Canadian dollars

| | Ascribed value | |
|--|----------------|-----------|
| | (thousands) | \$ |
| Balance at November 30, 2010 | 225,992 | 1,077,219 |
| Issued in quarter | | |
| For cash and fair value pursuant to stock option agreements | 242 | 662 |
| For cash and fair value pursuant to warrant agreements | 7,100 | 14,789 |
| Balance at February 28, 2011 | 233,334 | 1,092,670 |
| Issued in quarter | | |
| Pursuant to Copper Canyon acquisition | 4,171 | 42,339 |
| For cash and fair value pursuant to stock option agreements | 101 | 808 |
| For cash and fair value pursuant to warrant agreements | 450 | 926 |
| Balance at May 31, 2011 | 238,056 | 1,136,743 |
| Shares held by a wholly-owned subsidiary eliminated on consolidation | 9 | - |
| Total issued and outstanding | 238,065 | 1,136,743 |

(a) Warrants

In December 2010, 7.1 million warrants were exercised for total proceeds of \$10.7 million. In April and May 2011, 450,000 warrants were exercised for total proceeds of \$0.7 million. At the end of May 31, 2011, the Company has 41.8 million warrants outstanding.

(b) Stock options

The Company has a stock option plan providing for the issuance of options at a rolling maximum number that shall not be greater than 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at any given time. The Company may grant options to its directors, officers, employees and service providers. The exercise price of each option cannot be lower than the market price of the shares at the date of the option grant. The number of shares optioned to any single optionee may not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding shares at the date of grant. The options are exercisable for a maximum of five years from the date of grant, and may be subject to vesting provisions. The Company recognizes compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the respective vesting period for the stock options.

During the three months ended February 28, 2011, the Company granted 1,064,700 stock options (three months ended February 28, 2010: 1,237,000). For the three months ended February 28, 2011, the Company recognized a stock-based compensation charge against income of \$3.0 million for options granted to directors, employees and consultants in accordance with CICA 3870, net of forfeitures.

During the three months ended May 31, 2011, the Company granted 170,000 stock options (three months ended May 31, 2010: 40,000). For the three months ended May 31, 2011, the Company recognized a stock-based compensation charge against income of \$1.0 million for options granted to directors, employees and consultants in accordance with CICA 3870, net of forfeitures.

The fair value of the stock options recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and deficit has been estimated using an option pricing model. Assumptions used in the pricing model for each year are provided below.

| | Vested during | Granted during |
|---------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| | three months ended | three months ended |
| | May 31, 2011 | May 31, 2011 |
| Average risk-free interest rate | 0.50% - 2.11% | 1.91% - 2.11% |
| Expected life | 1.00 – 3.71 years | 3.50 years |
| Expected volatility | 65% – 97% | 81% |
| Expected dividends | Nil | Nil |

The Black-Scholes and other option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. The expected life of the options considered such factors as the average length of time similar option grants in the past have remained outstanding prior to exercise and the vesting period of the grants. Volatility was estimated based upon historical price observations over the expected term. Changes in the subjective input can materially affect the fair value estimate and therefore do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the Company's stock options.

(c) Performance share units

The Company has a performance share unit ("PSU") plan that provides for the issuance of PSUs in amounts as approved by the Company's Compensation Committee. Each PSU entitles the participant to receive that number of common shares of the Company at the end of a specified period set by the Compensation Committee to be determined by the achievement of certain performance and vesting criteria. The performance and vesting criteria are based on the Company's performance relative to a representative group of other mining companies and the Toronto Stock Exchange index. The actual performance against each of these criteria generates a multiplier that varies from 0% to 150%. Thus, the shares that may be issued vary between 0% and 150% of the number of PSUs granted, as reduced by the amounts for recipients no longer at the Company on vesting date.

For the three months ended May 31, 2011, the Company recognized a stock-based compensation charge against income of \$0.5 million for PSUs vested to employees in accordance with CICA 3870, net of forfeitures.

(d) Deferred share units

The Company has a deferred share unit ("DSU") plan that provides for the issuance of DSUs in amounts ranging from 50% to 100% of directors' annual retainers at the election of the directors. Each DSU entitles the directors to receive one common share when they retire from the Company.

For the three months ended May 31, 2011, the Company recognized a stock-based compensation charge against income of \$0.03 million for DSUs granted to directors.

12 Related party transactions

The Company has arms-length market-based agreements to provide certain services to Tintina Resources Inc. ("Tintina") and Alexco Resource Corp ("Alexco"). During the six months ended May 31, 2011, the fees for services provided were \$6,000 (May 31, 2010: \$50,000) to Tintina, a related party having one director and a major shareholder in common with the Company; and \$10,000 (May 31, 2010: \$20,000) to Alexco, a related party having two directors in common with the Company. The Company also provided exploration and management services totaling US\$0.4 million for the six months ended May 31, 2011 (May 31, 2010: US\$0.5 million) to Donlin Gold LLC. These transactions were in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed to by the parties. At May 31, 2011, the Company had \$0.5 million receivable (May 31, 2010: \$0.3 million) from related parties.

13 Segmented information

The Company's revenues and cost of sales from external customers are generated from one reportable operating segment: sales from land and gravel and gold royalties from the Company's operations located in Nome, Alaska. The majority of the Company's property, plant and equipment and exploration assets are located in the United States and Canada and the geographical breakdown is shown in notes 7 and 8.

14 Commitments and contingencies

(a) Lease commitments

As at May 31, 2011, the Company's aggregate commitments for operating leases totaled \$4.2 million. These include the Company's leased head office location and certain office equipment with leases ranging from one to seven years.

(b) Legal actions

On May 11, 2011, two claims were settled that had been filed in the United States District Court for the District of Alaska against NovaGold. The settlement was paid through insurance and NovaGold did not pay any funds. The claims were originally filed in July 15, 2009, against NovaGold, AGC and other parties seeking wrongful death damages as the result of an accident on July 19, 2007, where two employees of a contractor were killed in a construction-related accident at the Company's Rock Creek project. The Company and AGC filed an answer to the complaint denying all allegations and asserting certain affirmative defenses, and the claims against AGC were dismissed on May 19, 2010 by agreement without any payment. The settlement reached on May 11, 2011 has resolved this issue and the plaintiffs do not have any further recourse against the Company.

Appendix – Reserve & Resource Table

NovaGold Resources Inc.
Proven and Probable Mineral Reserves, Measured, Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources for Gold (Au), Silver (Ag), Copper (Cu), Zinc (Zn) and Lead (Pb)
As at May 20, 2011

Reserves

| Property | Reserve | Tonnes | | In Situ G | ade | | | Tota | al Contained M | etal | | | Nova | Gold Share N | et After Ear | n-Ins | |
|--|-----------|----------|--------|-----------|--------|------|--------|--------|----------------|--------|---------|--------|--------|--------------|--------------|---------|---------|
| % Ownership | Category | Millions | Au g/t | Agg/t Cu | % Zn % | Pb % | Moz Au | Moz Ag | Mlbs Cu | Mbs Zn | Mlbs Pb | Moz Au | Moz Ag | Moz AuEq | Mlbs Cu | Mlbs Zn | Mlbs Pb |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Donlin Gold (1) approximately 0.74 g/t Au Cutoff | Proven | 7.0 | 2.46 | | | | 0.55 | | | | | 0.28 | | 0.28 | | | |
| 50% Ownership - 50% Owned by Barrick Gold U.S. Inc. | Probable | 460.7 | 2.23 | | | | 33.04 | | | | | 16.52 | | 16.52 | | | |
| Section of the sectio | Total P&P | 467.7 | 2.23 | | | | 33.59 | / | | | | 16.80 | | 16.80 | | | |

| Property | Resource | Tonnes | In Situ Grade | | | | | Total Contained Metal | | | | NovaGold Share Net After Earn-Ins | | | | | | |
|---|----------------|----------|---------------|--------|------|------|------|-----------------------|--------|----------------|---------|-----------------------------------|--------|--------|----------|---------|---------------|---------|
| % Ownership | Category | Millions | Au g/t | Ag g/t | Cu % | Zn % | Pb % | Moz Au | Moz Ag | Mlbs Cu | Mbs Zn | Mlbs Pb | Moz Au | Moz Ag | Moz AuEq | Mlbs Cu | Mlbs Zn | Mlbs Pb |
| Donlin Gold (2)(3) approximately 0.74 g/t Au Cutoff | Measured | 0.2 | 6.61 | | | | | 0.04 | | | | | 0.02 | | 0.02 | | $\overline{}$ | |
| 50% Ownership - 50% Owned by Barrick Gold U.S. Inc. | Indicated | 39.6 | 3.34 | | | | | 4.25 | | | | | 2.13 | | 2.13 | | | |
| | Total M&I | 39.8 | 3.36 | | | | | 4.29 | | | | | 2.15 | | 2.15 | | | |
| | Inferred | 58.4 | 2.35 | | | | | 4.41 | | | | | 2.21 | | 2.21 | | | |
| Galore Creek (2)(4) 0.21% CuEq Cutoff | Measured | 4.7 | 0.37 | 4.41 | 0.52 | | | 0.06 | 0.67 | 54.1 | | | 0.03 | 0.34 | 0.04 | 27.0 | | |
| 50% Ownership - 50% Owned by Teck Resources Limited | Indicated | 781.0 | 0.29 | 4.88 | 0.52 | | | 7.21 | 122.42 | 8,872.3 | | | 3.61 | 61.21 | 4.62 | 4,436.1 | | |
| | Total M&I | 785.7 | 0.29 | 4.87 | 0.52 | | | 7.27 | 123.09 | 8,926.3 | | | 3.64 | 61.55 | 4.66 | 4,463.2 | | |
| | Inferred | 357.7 | 0.18 | 3.69 | 0.36 | | | 2.06 | 42.49 | 2,858.3 | | | 1.03 | 21.24 | 1.38 | 1,429.1 | | |
| Copper Canyon (2)(5)(8) 0.6% CuEq Cutoff 70% Ownership - 30% Owned by Teck Resources Limited | Inferred | 53.7 | 0.73 | 10.60 | 0.50 | | | 1.26 | 18.36 | 592.0 | | | 0.88 | 12.85 | 1.10 | 414.4 | | |
| | Total Inferred | 411.4 | 0.25 | 4.60 | 0.38 | | | 3.32 | 60.85 | 3,450.3 | | | 1.91 | 34.10 | 2.48 | 1,843.5 | | |
| Ambler (2)(6)(7) \$75 NSR / Tonne Cutoff | Measured | - | -200 | | | | | | | 1 Mary Martine | 3 17 1 | | | | | | | |
| 100% Ownership | Indicated | 16.8 | 0.83 | 59.62 | 4.14 | 6.02 | 0.94 | 0.45 | 32.29 | 1,538.3 | 1,237.0 | 350.3 | 0.45 | 32.29 | 0.98 | 1,538.3 | 2,237.0 | 350.3 |
| | Total M&I | 16.8 | 0.83 | 59.62 | 4.14 | 6.02 | 0.94 | 0.45 | 32.29 | 1,538.3 | 2,237.0 | 350.3 | 0.45 | 32.29 | 0.98 | 1,538.3 | 2,237.0 | 350.3 |
| | Inferred | 12.1 | 0.67 | 48.04 | 3.53 | 4.94 | 0.79 | 0.26 | 18.67 | 939.9 | 1,316.9 | 211.6 | 0.26 | 18.67 | 0.57 | 939.9 | 1,316.9 | 211.6 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | 0 0 | | | | | | | |
| Total Proven & Probable Reserves Contained Metal | | | | | | | - | 33.59 | | | | | 16.80 | | 16.80 | | | |
| Total Measured & Indicated Contained Metal (exclusive | of Reserves) | | | | | | | 12.01 | 155.38 | 10,464.7 | 2,237.0 | 350.3 | 6.23 | 93.83 | 7.79 | 6,001.5 | 2,237.0 | 350.3 |

Appendix – Reserve & Resource Table

Notes:

- 1. These resource estimates have been prepared in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 and the Canadian Institute of Mining and Metalurgy Resource Classification System, unless otherwise noted.
- 2. See numbered footnotes below on resource information. Resources shown in blue are reported as net values to NovaGold after all project earn-ins.
- 3. AuEg gold equivalent is calculated using gold and silver in the ratio of gold + slver + (US\$1023 Au + US\$17 Ag) 2008 2010 average metal prices.
- 4. Sums may not agree due to rounding.

(1) The basis for the cut-off grade was an assumed gold price of US\$825/oz. The new reserve estimate represents a 15% increase over the 29.3 million ounce reserve estimate contained in the 2009 technical report referenced below, and is based on the inclusion of additional drilling and a US\$100/oz increase in long-term gold price assumptions from that used in 2009. The increase in reserves is expected to extend the mine life from 21 years at the feasibility production rate, and does not materially change the information exchained in the technical report. It is believed that the additional storage capacity provided for in the 2009 feasibility study will accommodate the increase in tailings and that the waste rock storage facility can be modified to contain the additional unmineralized rock materia. The Qualified Person for this reserve estimate is Kevin Francis, P.Geo., NovaGold Resources Inc.

(2) Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. Inferred Resources are in addition to Measured and Indicated Resources. Details of Measured and Indicated Resources and other NI 43-101 information can be found by following the links below to the relevant Technical Report, Inferred Resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and whether they can be mined legally or economically. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of the inferred Resources will ever be upgraded to a higher category. See "Cautionary Note Concerning" Reserve & Resource Estimates".

(3) A variable cut-off grade has been estimated based on recent estimates of mining costs, processing costs (dependent upon sulfur content), seling costs and royalties. Resources are constrained within a Lexhs-Grossman (LG) open-pit shell using the long-term metal price assumption of US\$900/oz of gold, which is a US\$50/oz increase over the long-term gold price assumption used in the 2009 technical report. Assumptions for the LG shell included pit slopes variable by sector and pit area: mining cost is variable with depth, averaging US\$2.08/t mined; process cost is calculated as the percent sulfur grade x US\$2.7948 + US\$12.82; general and administrative costs, gold selling cost and sustaining capital are reflected on a per tonne basis. Based on metallurgical testing, gold recovery is assumed to be 895%. The Qualified Person for this resource estimate is Kevin Francis, P.Geo., NovaGold Resources

(4) The copper-equivalent grade was calculated as follows:

CUEq = Recoverable Revenue + 2204.62 + US\$1.55 + Cu Recovery. Where: CUEq = Copper equivalent grade; Recoverable copper, recoverable copper, recoverable gold, and recoverable silver using metal prices of Cu US\$/lb = 1.550, Au US\$/oz = 650, Ag US\$/oz = 11. Cu Recovery = Recovery for copper based on mineral zone and total copper grade. The cutoff grade is based on assumptions of offsite concentrate and smelter charges and onsite plant recovery and is used for Ireak-even mill feed/waste selection.

(5) The copper-equivalent grade was calculated as follows: CuEq = Recoverable Revenue + 2204.62 * 100 + 1.55. Where: CuEq = Copper equivalent grade; Recoverable Revenue in US dollars for recoverable copper, recoverable gold and recoverable silver using metal prices of US\$1.55/lb, US\$650/oz, and US\$11/oz for copper, gold, and silver, respectively; Cu Recovery = 100%.

(6) Resources stated as contained within a potentially economically minable underground shapes above a US\$75.00/t NSR cut-off

(7) NSR calculation is based on assumed metal prices of US\$2.50/lb for copper, US\$1,000/oz for gold, US\$16.00/oz for silver, US\$1.00/lb for lead. A mining cost of US\$45.00/t and combined processing and G&A costs of US\$31.00 were assumed to form the basis for the resource NSR cut-off determination.

(8) NovaGold Canada Inc. has agreed to transfer its 60% joint venture interest in the Copper Canyon property to the Galore Creek Partnership, which is equally owned by NovaGold Canada Inc. and a subsidiary of Teck Resources Limited. The remaining 40% joint venture interest in the Copper Canyon property is owned by another wholly owned subsidiary of NovaGold."

Cautionary Note Concerning Reserve & Resource Estimates

This summary table uses the term "resources", "measured resources", "measured resources" and "inferred resources". United States securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") does not recognize them. Under United States standards, mineralization may not be classified as a "reserve" unless the determination has been made that the mineralization could be economically and legally produced or extracted at the time the reserve determination is made. Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. United States investors are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of measured or indicated resources will ever be converted into eserves. Further, inferred resources have a great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and as to whether they can be mined legally or economically. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of the inferred resources exist, or that they ounces" is permitted disclosure under Canadian regulations, however, the SEC normally only permits issuers to report "resources" as in place tonnage and grade without reference to unit measures. Accordingly, information concerning descriptions of mineralization and resources contained in this release may not be comparable to information made public by United States companies subject to the reporting and disclosure requirements of the SEC.

National Instrument: 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects ("NI 43-101") is a rule developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators, which established standards for all public disclosure an issuer makes of scientific and technical information concerning mineral projects. Unless otherwise indicated, all resource estimates contained in this circular have been prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum Classification System.

Technical Reports and Qualified Persons

| The documents referenced below provide supporting technical | information for each of NovaGold's projects. | | |
|---|--|---|--|
| Project | Qualifed Person(s) | Most Recent Disclosure & Filing Date | Link to Most Recent Disclosure |
| Donlin Gold | Kirk Hanson P.E., AMEC Gordon Seibel M.AusIMM, AMEC Simon Allard, P.Eng. Gregory Wortman P.Eng., AMEC Alexandra Kozak P.Eng., AMEC | Donlin Creek Gold Project, Alaska, USA NI 43-101 Technical Report - April 1, 2009 | http://www.novagold.com/upload/technical_reports/DonlinCreekFS.pdf |
| Donlin Gold | Kevin Francis, P.Geo., NovaGold Resources Inc. | March 2010 reserve and resource updates: NovaGold press release - March 22, 2010 | http://novagold.com/section.asp?pageid=13238 |
| Galore Creek | Kevin Francis, P.Geo., NovaGold Resources Inc. | Galore Creek Property NI 43-101 Technical Report - January 25, 2008 | http://www.novagold.net/upload/echnical_reports/GaloreCreekJan2008TechReport.pdf |
| Copper Canyon | Erin Workman, P.Geo., NovaGold Resources Inc. | Not publicly released - updated March 2008 | http://www.novagold.net/upload/echnical_reports/CopperCarryonFebruary2005.pdf |
| Ambler | Russ White, P.Geo., SRK Consulting Neal Rigby, C.Eng., MIMMM, Ph.D., SRK Consulting | NI 43-101 Preliminary Economic Assessment, Ambler Project · May 9, 2011 | http://www.novagold.com/upload/pdt/Ambler_PEA_May/2011.pdf |